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RSPN 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
JAMES R. SWEETIN 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #005144 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
 
    Plaintiff, 
 
  -vs- 
 
GUILLERMO RENTERIA-NOVOA, 
#2755564 
 
               Defendant. 

 

CASE NO: 

DEPT NO: 

C-10-268285-1 

XX 

 
 

STATE’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM OF 
POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF 

HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 
 

DATE OF HEARING:  FEBRUARY 7, 2019 
TIME OF HEARING:  9:00 AM 

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County 

District Attorney, through JAMES R. SWEETIN, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby 

submits the attached Points and Authorities in the State's Response to Defendant’s 

Supplemental Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Petition for Writ of 

Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). 

This response is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the 

attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if 

deemed necessary by this Honorable Court. 

// 

Case Number: C-10-268285-1

Electronically Filed
12/31/2018 2:27 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On May 22, 2012, the State charged Guillermo Renteria-Novoa (“Petitioner”) by way 

of Second Amended Information with: Sexual Assault With a Minor Under the Age of 14 

(Category A Felony – NRS 200.364, 200.366) (Counts 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17, 

18, 20 & 21); Lewdness With a Child Under the Age of 14 (Category A Felony – NRS 

201.230) (Counts 3, 7, 8, 16, 19 & 22); Sexual Assault With a Minor Under the Age of 16 

(Category A Felony – NRS 200.364, 200.366) (Counts 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29 & 30); Open 

or Gross Lewdness (Gross Misdemeanor – NRS 201.220) (Counts 11, 31 & 36); and Sexual 

Assault (Category A Felony – NRS 200.364, 200.366) (Counts 32, 33, 34 & 35).  

 On May 21, 2012, jury trial commenced, and on May 25, 2012, the jury found Petitioner 

guilty on all thirty-six counts. On September 6, 2012, Petitioner appeared in court with counsel 

for sentencing and was SENTENCED as follows: COUNTS 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 

17, 18, 20, 21 - LIFE with the possibility of parole after TWENTY (20) YEARS; - COUNTS 

3, 7, 8, 16, 19, 22 - LIFE with the possibility of parole after TEN (10) YEARS; - COUNTS 

23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30 - LIFE with possibility of parole after TWENTY FIVE (25) 

YEARS; - COUNTS 11, 31, 36 - TWELVE (12) MONTHS Clark County Detention Center 

(CCDC) ; - COUNTS 32, 33, 34, 35 - LIFE with the possibility of parole after TEN (10) 

YEARS, with 762 DAYS credit for time served. FURTHER COURT ORDERED, COUNT 3 

TO RUN CONSECUTIVE TO COUNT 1; COUNT 6 TO RUN CONSECUTIVE TO 

COUNTS 1 & 3; COUNT 23 TO RUN CONSECUTIVE TO COUNTS 1, 3, & 6 AND 

COUNT 32 TO RUN CONSECUTIVE TO COUNTS 1, 3, 6 & 23; REMAINING COUNTS 

TO RUN CONCURRENT. FURTHER COURT ORDERED, a special SENTENCE OF 

LIFETIME SUPERVISION is imposed upon release from incarceration and pursuant to NRS 

179D.450, Petitioner must register as a Sex Offender within 48 hours of release from custody. 

The court entered its Judgment of Conviction on September 17, 2012. 

// 

// 

AA 001357
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 On October 5, 2012, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal from the Judgment of 

Conviction. He filed his opening brief on August 27, 2013, and the State responded on October 

7, 2013. The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the Judgment of Conviction on September 24, 

2014. State v. Renteria-Novoa, Docket No. 61865 (Order of Affirmance, Sept. 24, 2014). 

 On February 9, 2015, Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The State 

responded on April 13, 2015. The district court denied the petition as well as Petitioner’s 

motion for appointment of counsel. On May 27, 2015, this Court filed its Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions of Law and Order.  That denial was reversed on appeal. Renteria-Novoa v. State, 

133 Nev. Adv. Opp. 11 (Mar. 30, 2017). 

 Remittitur issued on April 24, 2017. After a hearing, this Court appointed counsel to 

represent Petitioner on May 11, 2017. Petitioner filed a Supplemental Memorandum of Points 

and Authorities in Support of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) on 

November 9, 2018. The State now responds. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS1 

 In 2002, Roxana Perez moved from Mexico to Las Vegas. In 2003, she moved into the 

Libertwo Apartments. It was here where her mother met and began to date Guillermo Renteria-

Novoa (“Petitioner”). In 2004, Roxana, her mother and sister, Petitioner, Roxana’s cousin 

Yahir, and an uncle moved into University Apartments. At University, Roxana developed a 

relationship she described as “just kissing and being together” with Yahir. They never had sex.  

University 

While at University, Petitioner walked in on Roxana and Yahir together. In 2005, the 

family moved from a two bedroom into a three bedroom (still at University), and once at this 

apartment, Petitioner began to threaten Roxana that he would tell her family what he had seen 

her doing with Yahir. Roxana, by this point 12 or 13 years old, became scared and embarrassed 

by this threat, and Petitioner began his assaults on Roxana shortly after he learned he could 

blackmail her with this information: 

// 
 

                                              
1 The following statement of facts was taken from the State’s Response Brief in State v. Renteria-Novoa, Docket No. 61865. AA 001358
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1. Petitioner told Roxana to come into his room and take off her 

clothes one afternoon after school. He had her lie down on 
some blankets on the floor, where he then placed his hands on 
her breasts, his finger in and his mouth and tongue on her 
vagina, and placed his tongue on and in her anus.  

 
2. Petitioner again told Roxana to come into his room one 

afternoon after school This time, Petitioner likewise (under 
threat of revealing Roxana’s relationship) licked Roxana’s 
vagina and anus, touched her breasts, and placed his fingers 
inside Roxana’s vagina and anus.  

 
3. Petitioner also once touched Roxana’s vagina and his own 

penis (under his clothing) simultaneously.  
 

 Andover (under Age 14) 

In 2006, Roxana’s family moved to Andover Place. She was 13 at the time, and turned 

14 in August of 2007, while they were still living at Andover. Roxana was attending Orr 

Middle School at the time.  
 
1. Petitioner made Roxana go into his bedroom, through the same 

threats of revealing her relationship with her cousin to her 
family, where he then touched her butt while she was walking 
around.  

 
2. Petitioner made Roxana pull her shorts down and began to lick 

her vagina. He touched her breasts, and put his fingers inside 
her vagina and anus. He then turned her around and licked her 
anus.  

 
3. Petitioner, sleeping next to Roxana in the bed they shared with 

Roxana’s mother, began to rub Roxana’s butt over her clothes, 
and try to touch her vagina inside her clothing.  

 
4. Petitioner again, during the day, touched Roxana’s breasts and 

placed his fingers and tongue inside her anus and vagina.  
 
5. Petitioner grabbed Roxana’s hand and placed it on his penis 

over his clothing. Petitioner then took his penis out and had 
Roxana began to touch it, after which point he masturbated 
himself to ejaculation. 

 Andover (over Age 14) 

 Roxana turned 14 on August 30, 2007, while living at Andover.  
 
1. Petitioner again threatened Roxana to get her to come into his 

room, where he touched her in substantially the same manner 
as his previous assaults. 

 
2. Petitioner asked Roxana to lick his penis, which she refused to 

do.  AA 001359
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 Tamarus Park 

 In the end of 2007, Roxana moved to Tamarus Park, and she began attending Del Sol 

High School that fall. Roxana’s mother was home in the afternoons during this time, and 

Petitioner gave Roxana a respite from his attentions while they lived at Tamarus Park. 

However, he continued to threaten to reveal her relationship with her cousin.  

 Southern Cove  

 In 2008, Roxana moved to Southern Cove Apartments. She was in the 10th grade, still 

at Del Sol High School. Roxana got a cell phone, after which Petitioner began calling and 

texting her incessantly. Petitioner saw Roxana at a party while at Southern Cove, and again 

reiterated his threat to reveal her secret. He also began to show up to the same places as 

Roxana.  
 
1. Petitioner abused Roxana in substantially the same manner at 

Southern Cove.  
 
2. Petitioner also, on a different day, had Roxana touch his penis, 

after which he ejaculated.  

 Riverbend 

 In August 2009, Roxana turned 16, and moved from Southern Cove to Riverbend 

Village Apartments. One last instance of abuse occurred at Riverbend. During this time, 

Roxana had been getting more mature and confident, and angrier with Petitioner’s abuse.  

 Ultimately, Petitioner became frustrated with Roxana’s rejecting his abuse, and told 

Roxana’s cousin that Roxana needed to get back in touch with him. This spurred Roxana to 

tell her Aunt Janet about Petitioner’s abuse. Her aunt then took her to see a counselor, told her 

mother, and ultimately, Petitioner was reported to the police in December 2009.  

 Confession 

On February 18, 2010, Detective Ryan Jaeger with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 

Department left a business card with Petitioner’s girlfriend asking Petitioner to call him back. 

Petitioner voluntarily called Det. Jaeger back a few hours later and left a voicemail. Det. Jaeger 

then called Petitioner back and spoke with him. He promised Petitioner that if Petitioner came 

down to give an interview he would not be arrested that day—a promise Det. Jaeger kept. Det. 

AA 001360
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Jaeger also told Petitioner that if he did not come give a statement an arrest warrant would 

eventually issue for him based on Roxana’s statement.  

Petitioner drove himself down to the police station on March 6, 2010, for his interview. 

Det. Jaeger Mirandized Petitioner and conducted an interview that lasted twenty-nine minutes. 

Although the room was small, Det. Jaeger did not handcuff or restrict Petitioner in any way, 

deny him the opportunity to use the restroom, deny him food or water, or threaten him. When 

the interview terminated, Petitioner left under his own power.  

During the course of the interview, Petitioner admitted that the abuse started after he 

caught Roxana kissing her cousin. Petitioner further admitted to seeing Roxana’s “body parts,” 

to seeing her “naked,” to kissing her breasts, to masturbating in front of her, to seeing and 

touching her vagina (over clothing), and attempting to entice Roxana to have sex with him.  

ARGUMENT 

I. PETITIONER HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL WAS 

CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE.  

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, “[i]n all criminal  

prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his 

defense.”  The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that “the right to counsel is 

the right to the effective assistance of counsel.”  Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 

104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 

(1993). 

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove  

he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S.Ct. at 2063-64.  See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 

P.2d at 323.  Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel’s 

representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for 

counsel’s errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have 

been different.  466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State Prison 

v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part test).  

AA 001361
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“[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the 

inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant 

makes an insufficient showing on one.”  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.Ct. at 2069. 

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine  

whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was 

ineffective.  Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004).  “Effective counsel 

does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘[w]ithin the range of 

competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.’”  Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 

537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975). 

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments.  See  

Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006).  Trial counsel has the 

“immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if 

any, to call, and what defenses to develop.”  Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 

(2002). 

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective  

assistance of counsel is “not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine 

whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render 

reasonably effective assistance.”  Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 

(1978).  This analysis does not mean that the court should “second guess reasoned choices 

between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against 

allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the 

possibilities are of success.”  Id.  To be effective, the constitution “does not require that counsel 

do what is impossible or unethical.  If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel 

cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade.”  

United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984). 

“There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case.  Even the  

best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.”  

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 689.  “Strategic choices made by counsel after 

AA 001362
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thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable.”  Dawson v. State, 

108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 

P.2d 951, 953 (1989).  In essence, the court must “judge the reasonableness of counsel’s 

challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel’s 

conduct.”  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. 

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel’s representation fell below an  

objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a 

reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been 

different.  McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064).  “A reasonable probability is a probability 

sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”  Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-

89, 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2064-65, 2068). 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the  

disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of 

the evidence.”  Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004).  Furthermore, 

claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must 

be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to 

relief.  Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984).  “Bare” and “naked” 

allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record.  Id.  NRS 

34.735(6) states in relevant part, “[Petitioner] must allege specific facts supporting the claims 

in the petition[.] . . . Failure to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause your 

petition to be dismissed.”  (emphasis added). 

A. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge a juror. 

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge Juror No. 35 because the juror had 

not indicated that she had fixed views that would have rendered her unable to faithfully fulfil 

her role to impartially consider the evidence brought by the State. 

// 

// 

AA 001363
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The Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury "guarantees to the criminally accused a fair 

trial by a panel of impartial, ‘indifferent' jurors.’" Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 722, 81 S. Ct. 

1639, 1642 (1961); Turner v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 466, 85 S. Ct. 546 (1965). A juror is 

impartial if she has no “fixed opinions” which undermine her ability to determine a defendant’s 

guilt based exclusively on the evidence the State produces at trial. Patton v. Yount, 467 U.S. 

1025, 1035, 104 S. Ct. 2885, 2891 (1984). To demonstrate that a juror is impartial, a defendant 

must show (1) that the juror has fixed views and (2) that because of those views the juror “did 

not honor his oath to faithfully apply the law.” United States v. Quintero-Barraza, 78 F.3d 

1344, 1350 (9th Cir. 1995), cert. denied 519 U.S. 848 (1996). If a juror can “lay aside his 

opinion and render a verdict based on the evidence presented in court[,]” then that juror is 

impartial for purposes of the Sixth Amendment. Yount, 467 U.S. at 1037 n.2.  

 Here, Petitioner claims that her trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing 

to challenge the inclusion of Juror No. 35, but Juror No. 35 made clear on the record that she 

could be impartial. During voir dire, Petitioner’s counsel specifically questioned Juror No. 35 

about the duties she would have as a juror. She was clear from the beginning that Petitioner 

was presumed innocent, and that this presumption would remain until the State proved 

otherwise. Exhibit 3 at 92. Furthermore, she made clear that she would vote to find Petitioner 

not guilty if the State failed to prove its case. Id. When asked what she would do “if the State, 

after they present all their witnesses” had not “proven their case,” she responded that she would 

vote “not guilty.” Id. 

This is all that is required under Patton and Irvin. The Constitution does not require 

jurors to lack opinions. Instead, it requires them to set those opinions aside and rely exclusively 

on the evidence presented at trial. Juror No. 35 indicated her willingness to do this, even though 

it would understandably be hard, and her opinion that a person is unlikely to lie about sexual 

assault did not render her ineligible to sit on a jury when that opinion was demonstrably not 

“fixed” and she indicated her willingness to hold the State to its burden. 

// 

// 
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In light of Juror No. 35’s clear indication that she would honor her oath to faithfully 

apply the law, any challenge which Petitioner’s counsel might have raised likely would have 

failed. Accordingly, raising a challenge for cause would have been futile and cannot therefore 

be used to demonstrate deficiency. Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103.  

Counsel was similarly not deficient for failing to strike Juror No. 35 peremptorily, as 

this was a strategic decision that is virtually unchallengeable. Dawson v. State, 108 Nev. 112, 

117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 

(1989). Voir-dire transcripts demonstrate that counsel used peremptory challenges to remove 

jurors who were much more likely much more problematic to Petitioner’s case than Juror No. 

35.  

Even if this Court finds that the use of peremptory challenges was not strategic, 

Petitioner has failed to show that their use fell below the Strickland standard. Petitioner’s 

counsel used peremptory challenges on Jurors Nos. 053, 013, 027, 029, 031, 032, 059, 071, 

and 049. The State, of course, can only speculate as to why counsel used his challenges on 

these potential jurors, but the record does show why each stricken juror might have been 

detrimental to Petitioner’s case. 

Juror No. 13 was an elementary-school teacher who explicitly said she would have a 

tendency to side for the minor that was strong enough that she would be “a little worried” if 

someone with her mindset was on her jury. Exhibit 3 at 46-47. Juror No. 27 stated that he had 

family members who worked for metro and that he would “give an officer more credibility as 

opposed to someone who’s not an officer[.]” Id. at 53. Juror No. 29 was a teacher who was 

marrying a police officer and who had previously reported cases of child neglect. Id. at 84-86. 

Juror No. 31 stated that he was “very protective” of girls and had previously been the victim 

of a crime. Id. at 88-90. Juror No. 49 was a teacher and had a young daughter whom she said 

it would be “very hard” not to picture “in the same situation” throughout the case. Id. at 127-

28.  Juror No. 71 had been sexually abused by her mother’s husband. Id. at 123. Juror No. 32 

had been sexually abused as a child. Trial Transcript, Day 1, at 200-01. Juror No. 59 had a 

family member who was abused in a similar manner. Id. at 285-86. Juror No. 53 was a 
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radiologist who had previously worked on assault cases. Id. at 145.All of these potential jurors 

made statements which could have made their inclusion in the empaneled jury much more 

problematic to the defense.  

In light of the jurors on which peremptory challenges were used, it would not be 

unreasonable for counsel to decline to use a peremptory challenge on a potential juror who had 

expressed on the record that she was willing to hold the State to its burden despite her belief 

that women are unlikely to lie about sexual assault. The jurors who ultimately were stricken 

expressed fix opinions, had a medical background, or shared experiences with the victim or 

law enforcement which a reasonable attorney could have believed were more likely to invade 

the jury’s deliberations. Petitioner’s counsel was not ineffective for making that strategic 

decision.  

B. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to sanitize the victim’s pregnancy. 

Similarly, Petitioner has failed to show that counsel was ineffective for not sanitizing 

the victim’s pregnancy to show motive to lie because (1) the proffered statement likely violated 

the Nevada Rape Shield Law itself and (2) counsel argued—repeatedly—that the victim was 

inconsistent in a way which was permissible. 

“Although a criminal defendant has a due process right to introduce into evidence any 

testimony or documentation which would tend to prove the defendant's theory of the case, that 

right is subject to the rules of evidence[.]” Rose v. State, 123 Nev. 194, 205 n.18, 163 P.3d 

408, 416 n. 18 (2007) (quoting Vipperman v. State, 96 Nev. 592, 596, 614 P.2d 532, 534 

(1980)) (internal quotation and punctuation omitted). One of those rules of evidence is the rape 

shield law, codified as NRS 50.090. 

The law exists to “protect rape victims from degrading and embarrassing disclosure of 

intimate details about their private lives and to encourage rape victims to come forward and 

report the crimes and testify in court protected from unnecessary indignities and needless 

probing into their respective sexual histories.” Johnson v. State, 113 Nev. 772, 776, 942 P.2d 

167, 170 (1997) (alterations and quotation marks omitted) (citing Summitt v. State, 101 Nev. 

159, 161, 697 P.2d 1374, 1375 (1985)). It forbids criminal defendants in sexual assault cases 
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from introducing “evidence of any previous sexual conduct of the victim of the crime to 

challenge the victim’s credibility.” NRS 50.090. 

When her mother found out about Petitioner’s crimes, the victim was pregnant with her 

boyfriend’s—not Petitioner’s—child. Petitioner argues that counsel was ineffective for failing 

to sanitize this pregnancy and use evidence of a “mistake” the victim had made to show she 

had motive to lie. According to Petitioner, his theory throughout the trial was that the victim 

had lied about her age when Petitioner sexually abused her to insulate herself from her 

mother’s punishment upon discovering her pregnancy. Challenging her credibility in this 

manner would have been a flagrant violation of NRS 50.090 because it would have been 

exactly the kind of embarrassing disclosure the rape shield law exists to prevent even if counsel 

had not explicitly said that the victim was pregnant. 

The Nevada Supreme Court agreed that “the admission of the … pregnancy was not 

allowed under the Nevada Rape Shield Law.” Supplemental Petition at 15. Despite this, 

Petitioner argues that there was a “simple way” to “sanitize the pregnancy” that would have 

allowed him to both (1) avail himself of the defense’s theory and (2) not act contrary to Nevada 

evidentiary rules which forbid the criminal defendants from introducing “evidence of any 

previous sexual conduct of the victim of the crime to challenge the victim’s credibility.” 

Supplemental Petition at 15; NRS 50.090.  

The solution offered by Petitioner was a statement calling the pregnancy “a mistake 

recently made by R.P. that that [sic] could negatively impact her the rest of her life with respect 

to opportunities in life, education, future relationships, her heath, her psychological state, as 

well as her financial and living situations; a mistake that would make her parents angry at; 

fearful for; disappointed in; and upset with her and would result in severe consequences.” 

Supplemental Petition at 15.  

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to make such a statement, as it would likely have 

independently violated NRS 50.090. The Nevada Supreme Court has recognized that evidence 

that fails to specifically mention a victim’s prior sexual conduct can nevertheless violate the 

Nevada Rape Shield Law. See Aberha v. State, Docket No. 73121 (Order of Affirmance, Oct. 
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31, 2018) at 10-12 (affirming a district court’s holding that a hotel receipt indicating that a 

sexual assault victim had purchased a romance package violated NRS 50.090 despite not 

showing “sexual conduct, per se”). Accordingly, alluding to a victim’s sexual conduct by 

another name can still impermissibly violate NRS 50.090.  

The statement offered above would have impermissibly alluded to the victim’s 

pregnancy. It is difficult to imagine a mistake—other than pregnancy—that a teenage girl 

could make which would “negatively impact her the rest of her life” in the ways mentioned by 

Petitioner.  

When deliberating, “jurors may rely on their common sense and experience.” Meyer v. 

State, 119 Nev. 554, 568, 80 P.3d 447, 458 (2003). The difficulties associated with pregnancy 

and the blessings of childcare are nearly universally understood. It would not have been 

unreasonable for a juror to hear Petitioner’s proffered statement and immediately understand 

that this mistake with lifelong implications was an unplanned pregnancy. This argument, 

therefore, would not have sanitized the pregnancy at all; instead, it would have presented the 

jury with evidence of the victim’s prior sexual activity in violation of NRS 50.090.  

Yet even assuming arguendo that a “sanitized” account of the victim’s pregnancy would 

not have independently violated the Rape Shield Statute, however, Petitioner has nevertheless 

failed to show that counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to sanitize the pregnancy 

for several reasons. 

First, despite the protections of the Confrontation Clause, all trial “[e]vidence must be 

relevant, and … even relevant evidence is inadmissible if its probative value ‘is substantially 

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the 

jury.’” Rose, 123 Nev. at 205 n.18, 163 P.3d at 416 n. 18 (quoting NRS 48.035(1)).  

This Court expressed its confusion as to the relevance of the victim’s pregnancy when 

counsel attempted to introduce it: “I’m still not sure why factually her pregnancy by someone 

who’s completely unconnected with the case gives her motive to lie about [Petitioner].” Any 

“mistake” which the victim made with her boyfriend—who, again, was not the Petitioner— 

was neither relevant to her motive nor probative of the same. It relies on the assumption that 
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the victim’s mother would actually have been mad at her for getting pregnant and that their 

discovery of the fact that she had been abused years ago would have mitigated their 

disappointment in her for getting pregnant then. It further incoherently assumes that the 

victim’s mother would not have been upset that her ex-boyfriend had sexually abused the 

victim when she was older. This argument does not withstand even basic scrutiny. The victim 

was a minor throughout the period where she was abused by Petitioner. She had no motive to 

lie about when the abuse began in light of her continued minority through each of Petitioner’s 

abusive acts.  

Indeed, “nothing logically links the victim's prior instance of sexual conduct with the 

alleged motive to lie. [Petitioner’s] argument, when stripped bare, advances the theory that a 

defendant may circumvent the rape shield statute and explore the victim's prior sexual history 

whenever he asserts that the victim has any motive to lie, which is, of course, absurd.” People 

v. Jones, 264 Ill. App. 3d 556, 566, 636 N.E.2d 604, 612 (Ill. Ct. App. 1993). In short, the 

argument relating to her mistake was irrelevant. 

Second, Petitioner’s counsel argued repeatedly that the victim’s statements and 

testimony were inconsistent, which discredited her without violating the law. As the Nevada 

Supreme Court noted in its Order of Affirmance, counsel “sought to reveal [the] 

inconsistencies in [the victim’s] previous recounting of the alleged abuse [during cross-

examination].”  Renteria-Novoa, Docket No. 61865 at 2.  

 Indeed, trial counsel thoroughly cross-examined the victim regarding her inconsistent 

statements and attempted to discredit the victim.  For instance, trial counsel questioned the 

victim regarding the fact that she received a “U-Visa” as a result of her testimony, allowing 

her to remain in the country legally.  Trial Transcript, Day 3 (May 23, 2012) at 146-47.  

Moreover, trial counsel questioned the victim regarding her statements to the school counselor, 

Id. at 153, her statements to her family, Id. at 154, and her statements to the police, Id. at 155.  

Trial counsel emphasized that the victim’s statements were “inconsistent from one to the 

other” and that Petitioner was “entitled to impeach her on what she told the police initially to 

the next statement, which is inconsistent, to the next statement, which is inconsistent.”  Id. at 
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164.  “[I]t’s different from what she said at the preliminary hearing, it’s different from what 

she said in her voluntary statement.  It’s different from what…she said today.”  Id. 167.  The 

following colloquy took place: 
 
Q: Now, today you testified that you put your hand [] that you 

would actually put your hand on his penis?  
 
A: He would tell me to touch his penis. 
 
Q: All right.  Did you testify today that you actually put your hand 

on his penis? 
 
A: Yes. 
 
Q: Okay.  Today, is that—that’s the first time we’re hearing that.  

That’s the first time you’ve said that, right? 
 
A: I don’t think so.  I think I said it before. 
 
Q: Do you remember when you said it before? 
 
A: Well, [] I talked [] I remember talking about it with Stacy. 
 
Q: Okay.  But you never said it in any of the previous statement 

that you gave? 
 
A: I think the time I came in court for the first time. 

 
 Id. at 189-90.   

Moreover, trial counsel emphasized that the victim had given inconsistent “stories” 

during closing arguments.  Trial Transcript, Day 4 (May 24, 2012) at 183.  Specifically: 
 
“So one of the things that makes [the victim] not credible is the 
inconsistent stories that she told, and that’s one of the things that you 
can consider when you’re looking at her credibility, in addition to 
[telling] inconsistent stories to several people.  In addition to the 
inconsistencies, you’re going to [] you heard testimony of her family, 
and her family also shows that she’s simply not credible…[s]he told 
her family several different stories.”   
… 
 
“In addition to her family, she talked to a counselor.  She told the 
counselor a different story.  After she spoke to the counselor, she did 
a written statement for the police, which was different.  Then she gave 
a recorded statement to the police several weeks later, which was also 
different.  Then finally, at the preliminary hearing, that’s when she 
made the bulk of her allegations.  That was completely different than 
anything she had ever said, and that was about nine months before any 
allegations came to light.” 
… 
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“Now, let’s start with her family.  What did she tell her family?  [] She 
never said anything about any type of sexual contact with [Petitioner].  
She never said anything about sex with her cousin…she gave 
absolutely not details about what happened [to her aunt].  All she said 
is that she was just…being touched.” 
… 
 
“Then we go to the written statement which happened the day the 
police were called.  Again, [the victim] says that…her private parts 
were touched, he put his hand inside of her; however, there was not 
mention of some of the biggest details [] [or] the most egregious 
conduct here…no mention to the counselor, no mention to her family, 
no mention at all…[s]o a few weeks later, she does her recorded 
statement.  Now she says the touching next started in 2004.  This is 
2010 when she’s giving this statement, but she says it happened in 
2004, so it’s about five years now that she’s saying this happened.  So 
we went from three years to one year to possibly five years.  They 
asked her about the last time she was touched…she doesn’t mention 
anything about any type of anal licking or any type of vaginal licking.  
She just says that she was touched.” 
… 
 
“Then we get to the preliminary hearing….[n]ow she is 11 years old 
when the touching started.  Her breasts were touched, her vagina was 
touched.  Now, she adds to the detail that [Petitioner] licked her vagina 
and licked her anus.  So she simply is not credible when her story 
changes that way.” 

Id. at 183-86.  The simple fact of the matter is, trial counsel thoroughly emphasized the 

inconsistencies in the victim’s story in an attempt to discredit her. His decision to discredit her 

through inconsistent statements and not through showing her prior sexual history by alluding 

to her pregnancy was not deficient performance, but was a reasonable, virtually 

unchallengeable strategic decision. Dawson v. State, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 

(1992). Furthermore, because the inconsistencies did tend to discredit the victim’s testimony, 

Petitioner has failed to show that he was prejudiced by his counsel’s failure to discredit her in 

another way which has been shown to be impermissible.  

Accordingly, this Court should hold that trial counsel was not constitutionally 

ineffective for failing to raise an argument to the jury that would have violated the Nevada 

Rape Shield Law.  

Petitioner has not shown that his counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge Juror 

No. 35 or sanitize the victim’s pregnancy when her credibility was otherwise challenged. The 

instant petition should be denied.  
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II. THERE IS NO ERROR TO CUMULATE. 

Petitioner asserts a claim of cumulative error in the context of ineffective assistance of  

counsel.  The Nevada Supreme Court has never held that instances of ineffective assistance of 

counsel can be cumulated; it is the State’s position that they cannot.  However, even if they 

could be, it would be of no moment as there was no single instance of ineffective assistance in 

Petitioner’s case.  See United States v. Rivera, 900 F.2d 1462, 1471 (10th Cir. 1990) (“[A] 

cumulative-error analysis should evaluate only the effect of matters determined to be error, 

not the cumulative effect of non-errors.”).  Furthermore, Petitioner’s claim is without merit.  

“Relevant factors to consider in evaluating a claim of cumulative error are (1) whether the 

issue of guilt is close, (2) the quantity and character of the error, and (3) the gravity of the 

crime charged.”  Mulder v. State, 116 Nev. 1, 17, 992 P.2d 845, 855 (2000).  Furthermore, any 

errors that occurred at trial were minimal in quantity and character, and a defendant “is not 

entitled to a perfect trial, but only a fair trial.”  Ennis v. State, 91 Nev. 530, 533, 539 P.2d 114, 

115 (1975). 

 Here, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate any error, and therefore, necessarily, there is 

no error for this Court to cumulate. The issue of guilt in this case was not close, as Petitioner 

admitted to many of the counts against him and the victim testified in detail of the others. See 

Gaxiola v. State, 121 Nev. 638, 647, 119 P.3d 1225, 1231 (2005) (stating that the 

uncorroborated testimony of a victim, without more, is sufficient to uphold a rape conviction). 

Furthermore, as the claims of error themselves were meritless, the quantity and character of 

the errors cannot be shown to warrant relief. Only the gravity of the crimes charged weighs in 

Petitioner’s favor, as it cannot be overstated. However, even grave crimes do not warrant relief 

for cumulative error when there is no error at all. For these reasons, this Court should deny the 

instant supplemental petition. 

// 

// 

// 

// 
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III. PETITIONER IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING. 

NRS 34.770 determines when a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing.  It reads: 
 

1.  The judge or justice, upon review of the return, answer and all 
supporting documents which are filed, shall determine whether an 
evidentiary hearing is required. A petitioner must not be discharged 
or committed to the custody of a person other than the respondent 
unless an evidentiary hearing is held. 
 
2.  If the judge or justice determines that the petitioner is not entitled 
to relief and an evidentiary hearing is not required, he shall dismiss 
the petition without a hearing. 
 
3.  If the judge or justice determines that an evidentiary hearing is 
required, he shall grant the writ and shall set a date for the hearing.   

 

(emphasis added).  The Nevada Supreme Court has held that if a petition can be resolved 

without expanding the record, then no evidentiary hearing is necessary.  Marshall v. State, 110 

Nev. 1328, 885 P.2d 603 (1994); Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 P.3d 1228, 1231 (2002).  

A defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if his petition is supported by specific factual 

allegations, which, if true, would entitle him to relief unless the factual allegations are repelled 

by the record.  Marshall, 110 Nev. at 1331, 885 P.2d at 605; see also Hargrove v. State, 100 

Nev. 498, 503, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984) (holding that “[a] defendant seeking post-conviction 

relief is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on factual allegations belied or repelled by the 

record”).  “A claim is ‘belied’ when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it 

existed at the time the claim was made.”  Mann, 118 Nev. at 354, 46 P.3d at 1230 (2002).  It 

is improper to hold an evidentiary hearing simply to make a complete record.  See State v. 

Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 121 Nev. 225, 234, 112 P.3d 1070, 1076 (2005) (“The district 

court considered itself the ‘equivalent of . . . the trial judge’ and consequently wanted ‘to make 

as complete a record as possible.’  This is an incorrect basis for an evidentiary hearing.”). 

Further, the United States Supreme Court has held that an evidentiary hearing is not 

required simply because counsel’s actions are challenged as being unreasonable strategic 

decisions.  Harrington v. Richter, 131 S.Ct. 770, 788 (2011).  Courts may neither indulge post 

hoc rationalization for counsel’s decision-making that contradicts the available evidence of 

counsel’s actions, nor they insist counsel confirm every aspect of the strategic basis for his or 
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her actions.  Id.  There is a “strong presumption” that counsel’s attention to certain issues to 

the exclusion of others reflects trial tactics rather than “sheer neglect.”  Id. (citing Yarborough 

v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 124 S.Ct. 1 (2003)).  Strickland calls for an inquiry in the objective 

reasonableness of counsel’s performance, not counsel’s subjective state of mind.  466 U.S. 

668, 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065 (1994). 

The strong presumption that counsel was employing trial tactics and not merely 

neglecting to act like a reasonable attorney has not been rebutted by Petitioner in the instant 

Supplemental Petition. To the contrary, even if what Petitioner has alleged was true, he would 

not be entitled to relief as each claim of ineffective assistance involves either (1) requests that 

counsel take steps that ultimately would have been futile; or (2) unchallengeable strategic 

decisions. With these challenges, the record is already sufficiently developed, and an 

evidentiary hearing is not needed to further it. Accordingly, Petitioner’s request for an 

evidentiary hearing to which he is not entitled should be denied.  

CONCLUSION 

For the aforementioned reasons, the instant Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus should 

be DENIED. 

DATED this 31st day of December, 2018. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 

 
 
 BY /s/ JAMES R. SWEETIN 
  JAMES R. SWEETIN 

Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #005144  
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COMES NOW, GUILLERMO RENTERIA-NOVOA (“Petitioner”), by and through 

his attorney, JEAN SCHWARTZER, ESQ., and hereby submits the instant Reply to the 

State’s Response to Supplemental Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of 

Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). 

Case Number: C-10-268285-1

Electronically Filed
3/6/2019 3:00 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This Reply is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the 

attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of 

hearing, if deemed necessary by this Honorable Court. 

 

DATED this   6th   day of March, 2019. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
      
 
      /s/ Jean J. Schwartzer   

JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 11223 

LAW OFFICE OF JEAN J. SCHWARTZER 

10620 Southern Highlands Parkway 

Suite 110-473 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89141 

Phone: (702) 979-9941 

Fax: (702) 977-9954 

Counsel for Petitioner 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 

ARGUMENT 

 

I. GROUND ONE: THE STATE FAILS TO ADDRESS JUROR NO. 12’S 

COMMENTS REGARDING THE CREDIBILITY OF THE VICTIM AND 

PRESUMES EVERY DECISION DEFENSE COUNSEL MADE WAS 

“STRATEGIC” IN NATURE WITHOUT ANY FACTUAL SUPPORT 

In response to Petitioner’s claim that trial counsel was ineffective for neither 

challenging Juror No. 12 for cause nor using a peremptory strike her, the State claims that 

Juror No. 12 “made it clear on the record that she could be impartial.” (See State’s 

Response “SR,” 9). The State conveniently fails to address 50% of what Juror No. 12 said 

during voir dire. While the State quotes the initial portions of the statements made by 

Juror No. 12 wherein she claims she understands the presumption of innocence, that 

Petitioner is not guilty prior to the start of trial because the State has not proven 

Petitioner is guilty, the State does not address or even mention the final comments that 

Juror No. 12 made regarding prejudging the credibility of the victim: 

 

Defense Counsel: So if the State, after they present all their 

witnesses and you feel that they haven’t 

proven their case, what would be your vote 

for, guilty or not guilty? 

Prospective Juror: I guess not guilty. It’s just really hard to say 

because I haven’t heard all the facts. 

(See Transcript of Day Two of Trial, attached to Supplemental Memorandum as 

“Exhibit 3,” 92)(emphasis added). 

It is clear from the use of the phrase “I guess” that Juror No.12, only five 

questions into defense voir dire, is already wavering in finding Petitioner not 

guilty if the State does not prove its case. Then immediately following and in 

response to a question about remaining fair, Juror No. 12 goes on to say that she 

does not believe the victim would “lie about something like that,” clearly 

showing a bias against Petitioner in that she already believes the victim and 
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cannot fathom how the victim could lie before ever hearing any evidence:   

 

Defense Counsel: And considering the nature of those charges, 

does that factor into it in any way as far as 

your ability to be fair? 

Prospective Juror: It is a very heinous crime in my eyes. I don’t 

see why anybody would lie about something 

like that, especially if it happened so long 

ago, for her to, you know, bring those 

feelings back and just talk about that, it’s just 

really hard to know that she’s lying about 

something like that. I just…. 

Defense Counsel: Okay. So do you think that some child would 

never lie in that circumstance, or they could 

possibly lie?  

Prospective Juror: I mean there is that possibility. But I believe 

she’s 19 years old now, so for her to just 

revisit that and bring that all to light and 

want to go through all of this is just hard to, 

you know, really tell that she’s—wouldn’t lie 

about that. 

  

(See Exhibit 3 of Supplemental Memorandum, 92-93)(emphasis added). 

The State claims that “the Constitution does not require jurors to lack opinions.” 

(See SR 9). While the State does not actually address the specific opinion it is referring to, 

one can assume the reference is to the statements regarding the opinion that the victim 

would not “lie about something like this.” However, the Constitution does require that 

jurors lack this particular opinion. Juror No. 12 had a “fixed opinion” that someone like 

the victim would not “lie about something like this.” As a result of this fixed opinion 

regarding the victim’s credibility, Juror No. 12 “could not judge impartially the guilt of 

the [Petitioner].” Patton v. Yount, 467 U.S. 1025, 1035, 104 S.Ct. 2885, 2891 (1984) (citation 

omitted); United States v. Quintero-Barraza, 78 F.3d 1344, 1350 (9th Cir. 1995) (Cert 

denied by Quintero-Barraza v. United States, 519 U.S. 848, 117 S.Ct. 135 (1996) (No. 95-

9280). Even if this Court finds that Juror No. 12’s bias was borderline, “any doubts to 
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whether or not this Juror was biased “must be resolved against the juror.” United 

States v, Gonzales, 214 F.3d 1109, 1114 (9th Cir.2000).  

Any argument that the Juror No. 12’s initial statements regarding the presumption 

of innocence and burden of proof, somehow, neutralize or wash away her clearly stated 

bias puts the cart before the horse. In order for a juror to address whether or not the State 

has met its burden, it must, inter alia, determine the credibility of the State’s witnesses. 

The most important witness for the State is the victim, considering there was no evidence 

of most of the crimes other than her testimony. If a juror has already made a decision 

regarding the credibility of the victim before hearing any evidence and goes into the 

analysis of whether or not the State met its burden with that biased view of the victim’s 

credibility, then the juror is biased regardless of whether or not she said at some point 

during voir dire that she would find the defendant not guilty if the State did not meet its 

burden. A juror cannot come to the conclusion that the State did not meet its burden 

without bias if the juror cannot fathom how the victim would lie.  

The State then argues that defense counsel’s failure to challenge for cause or strike 

Juror No. 12 “was a strategic decision that is virtually unchallengeable.” (See SR 10). The 

State then lists all the jurors that defense counsel used peremptory challenges on and 

why, presumably, they were challenged and then argues that “it would not be 

unreasonable for counsel to decline to use a peremptory challenge on a potential juror 

who has expressed on the record that she was willing to hold the State to its burden 

despite her believe that women are unlikely to lie about sexual assault.” (See SR 11). This 

argument is speculative and misconstrues Juror No. 12’s statements. 

First, why defense counsel chose to not challenge Juror No. 12 but did challenge 

other jurors is pure speculation. The only way to determine why defense counsel made 

the decisions he and she made is to question them at an evidentiary hearing. Moreover, 

effectively challenging some jurors and ineffectively failing to challenge others are not 

mutually exclusive. 

Second, Juror No. 12 did not say, “women are unlikely to lie about sexual assault 
AA 001380
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but despite that, I will hold the State to its burden.” She did not say, “while I don’t 

understand why a woman would like about this but I will listen and make a 

determination regarding credibility at the end of presentation of all evidence.” She did 

not say, “if I don’t believe the victim is telling the truth, I will find that the state did not 

meet its burden.”  

Juror No. 12 said she understood the presumption of innocence; if the State did 

not meet its burden she would find Petitioner not guilty; and then she said: “I don’t see 

why anybody would lie about something like that”……“she’s—wouldn’t lie about 

that.” These statements clearly demonstrate that Juror No. 12 was biased in favor of the 

victim witness and could not “lay aside [her] opinion and render a verdict based upon 

the evidence in court.” Yount, 467 U.S. at 1037 n.12.  Juror No. 12 had views that were 

fixed in favor of the victim witness. Therefore Juror No. 12 was admittedly biased and 

partial to the State. Id.; Quintero-Barraza, 78 F.3d at 1350.  Any doubts to whether or not 

this Juror was biased “must be resolved against the juror.” Gonzales, 214 F.3d at 1114 

(emphasis added). “The presence of a biased juror cannot be harmless; the error 

requires a new trial without a showing of actual prejudice.” Dyer v. Calderon, 151 F.3d 

970, 973, n. 2 (9th Cir.1998); see also United States v. Martinez-Salazar, --- U.S. ---, ---, 120 

S.Ct. 774, 782, 145 L.Ed.2d 792 (2000).   

Therefore, the fact that defense counsel did not challenge this juror for cause or 

use a peremptory challenge on her falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. 

Counsel’s failure to do so prejudiced Petitioner because the presence of a biased juror 

cannot be harmless and Petitioner was, in fact, found guilty. Therefore, Petitioner 

received ineffective assistance of counsel during jury selection, was prejudiced and is 

entitled to a new trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, (1984); 

Dyer, supra; Gonzales, supra; see also Martinez-Salazar, supra. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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 7 

 

II. GROUND TWO: SANTIZATION OF VICTIM’S PREGNANCY 

In response to Petitioner’s proposed sanitization of R.P.’s pregnancy, the State’s 

argument is three fold: 1) R.P.’s pregnancy was irrelevant and she had no motive to lie; 2) 

the proposed sanitization (or any modification thereof) would have alluded to R.P.’s 

sexual conduct in violation of NRS 50.090; and 3) defense counsel attempted to discredit 

R.P by bringing out inconsistencies in her testimony and therefore cannot be deemed 

ineffective for failing to sanitize R.P.’s pregnancy. 

A. R.P.’s Motive to Lie Was Relevant 

First, the district court already determined that R.P.’s pregnancy was relevant.  

Although the Court initially did not understand the relevance, after hearing argument 

from defense counsel, the relevance became apparent. In fact, the Court went so far as to 

find that it “cut to the heart” of Petitioner’s defense. (See T1 at 28-42). Relevance is an 

incredibly low threshold. It does not matter that the father was another man or that the 

alleged sexual assault occurred years prior. The motive to lie is simple: R.P. had engaged 

in conduct (teenage sex) and created a situation (pregnancy) for herself that would 

severely upset and anger any parent. To divert attention and anger away from herself for 

engaging in this conduct, she told her mother that Petitioner had been sexually assaulting 

her. The State claims that this “incoherently assumes that the victim’s mother would not 

have been upset that her ex-boyfriend had sexually abused the victim when she was 

older.” (See SR 14). The State misunderstands the crux of Petitioner’s argument. R.P.’s 

mother was going to be angry regardless. By telling her mother than Petitioner had been 

abusing her, her mother would focus her anger on Petitioner for his alleged conduct as 

opposed to R.P. for her conduct. The State cites to People v. Jones1 for the argument that 

R.P.’s mistake was irrelevant. (See SR 14). Petitioner’s case is distinguishable from Jones, 

supra. 

In Jones, four males, Lofton, Battice, Jones, and Salazar, were accused of sexually 

                                                           

1 264 Ill. App. 3d 556, 566, 636 N.E.2d 604, 612 (Ill. Ct. App. 1993). AA 001382
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assaulting a high school girl. The victim had consensual intercourse with Battice, her 

boyfriend at the time, but was then assaulted by he and the three other defendants 

afterwards.  Id. at 606-607. The defendants claimed the victim consented to the sexual 

encounter with all four of them.  Id. at 606. Battice pleaded guilty to a lesser charge. Id. 

Lofton, a minor, was adjudged delinquent in a juvenile proceeding and placed on six 

months' probation. Id. Only Jones and Salazar proceeded to trial. Id.  

The State, invoking the rape shield statute (Ill.Rev.Stat.1989, ch. 38, par. 115-7), 

moved in limine to exclude any evidence concerning the victim’s sexual reputation or her 

prior sexual activity with anyone other than the defendants standing trial, Jones and 

Salazar. Id. In response, Jones informed the court that he had observed the victim engage 

in consensual sexual intercourse and oral copulation with Battice sometime between 

Christmas 1988 and January 24, 1989, the date of the incident at issue here. Id. at 605.  

Jones sought to admit this evidence through various avenues and/or for various reasons, 

one being that the prior sexual conduct demonstrated a motive to lie. Id. at 611. Jones 

argued that the victim feared her mother's reaction to her sexual experiences and that she 

was attempting to protect her boyfriend, Battice. Id. The trial court denied the motion. 

On appeal, Jones attempted  to analogize his case to People v. Gray 2, where the 

appellate court held that the defendant's confrontation rights superseded the State's 

interest in protecting the victim under the provisions of the rape shield statute and that 

therefore, the defendant should have been allowed to question the victim on her fear of 

being pregnant by another man, something that would have severely angered her 

mother. Jones, 636 N.E.2d at 611. In affirming the denial, the Appellate Court of Illinois 

stated as follows: 

 

“The feared pregnancy in Gray provided the logical basis from which a 

trier of fact could reasonably infer that the victim invented the alleged 

sexual assault. That predicate is absent here. Jones does not allege that the 

                                                           

2 209 Ill.App.3d 407, 154 Ill.Dec. 219, 568 N.E.2d 219 (1991). 
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victim feared pregnancy; nor does he present any other plausible reason 

to demonstrate why the victim suddenly feared her mother would learn 

of the group sexual encounter in the high school auditorium but not the 

one she had a month earlier with Battice. More significant, nothing 

logically links the victim's prior instance of sexual conduct with the 

alleged motive to lie.” 

Id. at 612-13 (emphases added).  

The State’s reliance on Jones is misplaced. In Jones, the defense theory that the 

victim’s mother would be angry at the victim about anything was tenuous at best 

because there was nothing to show that her mother knew about the group sexual 

encounter but for the victim making the accusation that she was sexually assaulted. Id. 

at 612-13. Here, there is no question that R.P.’s mother had found out about her sexual 

activity—R.P. was pregnant and told her mother and then immediately accused 

Petitioner of sexually assaulting her in the past. 

The second reason the State’s reliance on Jones is misplaced is because the 

evidence Jones sought to admit was the actual sexual conduct of the victim. Here, 

Petitioner is arguing that his attorney was ineffective for failing to sanitize the sexual 

conduct of the victim in some way so that the jury would still hear that R.P. feared 

getting in trouble for a huge mistake she had made; wanted to divert her mother’s anger 

away from her; thereby evincing the motive to lie. Therefore, Jones and the instant case 

are not analogous at all.  

Petitioner’s case is more analogous to Grey than to Jones. The important take 

away from Gray is that fearing a parent’s “wrath” and disappointment for whatever 

reason, but especially pregnancy, constitutes a motive to lie about sexual assault.  

Jones,636 N.E.2d at 611 (when distinguishing Jones from Gray stated, “[t]he trier of fact 

there [in Gray] could reasonably decide that the victim invented the sexual assault, given 

her fear of her mother's previously demonstrated wrath, which would only be inflamed 

by the pregnancy.”). 

AA 001384
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B. Petitioner’s Proposed Sanitization Does not Allude to R.P.’s Sexual 

Conduct in Violation of NRS 50.090 

The State argues that Petitioner’s proposed sanitization offered in his 

Supplemental Memorandum would still violate NRS 50.090 because it alludes to her 

sexual conduct. (See SR 12). The State cites to Aberha v. State , Docket No. 73121 (Order 

of Affirmance) in support of this argument. Id. Petitioner’s case is distinguishable from 

Aberha, supra. 

In Aberha, the defense sought to introduce a hotel bill from the Aria showing the 

victim had purchased the romance package two days after the sexual assault, which 

included condoms for the purpose of supporting the defense of consent. Id. at 7-8.  The 

District Court precluded the defense from introducing the bill for two reasons: 1) 

although the purchase of the romance package was not sexual conduct per se, it blatantly 

alluded to and implied that the victim wanted to or did have sex with someone else 

using condoms two days after the rape and therefore must be lying about the rape, which 

is in violation of NRS 50.090; and 2) the purchase of a romance package two days after 

the sexual assault  is irrelevant to show she consented to sex with the defendant days 

earlier.  Id. at 8-9.  

Petitioner’s proffered sanitization does not even come close to alluding to R.P.’s 

sexual conduct in the way the purchase of a romance package that included condoms 

does. The State claims that the reason the proffered sanitization alludes to R.P.’s sexual 

conduct and violates NRS 50.090 is because “[i]t is difficult to imagine a mistake—other 

than pregnancy—that a teenage girl could make which would ‘negatively impact the rest 

of her life’ in the way mentioned by Petitioner.” (See SA 13).  

First, the proffered sanitization is a work in progress.  Petitioner is not arguing 

that anything short of the word-for-word sanitization he proposed amounts to ineffective 

assistance of counsel. Arguably, defense counsel, the State and the Court would come to 

a final compromise that addresses all parties’ concerns. 

Second, teenage girls can commit a myriad of serious mistakes that do not involve 
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sexual conduct. The following examples are all mistakes a teenage girl could make that 

would negatively affect her future: 

 Failing a class, thereby precluding her from graduating on time or getting into the 

college of her choice. 

 Skipping school so many times that she will not be able to graduate.  

 Dropping out of school. 

 Getting kicked off a sports team resulting in the loss of a college scholarship. 

 Dating “the wrong kind of guy,” which leads to many other negative behaviors 

 Rushing into marriage/love and deciding to not go to college.  

 Getting a D.U.I.  

 Doing drugs, smoking and/or drinking. 

 Bullying or cyber bullying another teenager. 

 Throwing a party when parents are out of town 

 Social media statements that lead to college rejection. 

 Injuring friends/family with reckless driving. 

 Caught drinking/drugs while at school/school function leading to placement in 

alternative school. 

 Getting piercing/tattoos; getting boy’s name tattooed on her body; getting and 

home piercing or tattoo leading to serious infection or disease, such as, Hepatitis 

or HIV. 

 Being with a group of kids who committed a crime or serious school infraction 

resulting in suspension or expulsion. 

 Lying about whereabouts and/or staying out past curfew and/or putting herself in 

dangerous situations. 

 Driving without a license or riding as a passenger in a car being driving with 

someone without a license. 

These are just some of the serious and potentially life altering mistakes a teenage 

girl can make. Therefore, Petitioner’s proposed sanitization, or a variation thereof, would 

not improperly allude to R.P.’s sexual conduct in violation of NRS 50.090. 

 

C. Counsel’s Attempt at Discrediting R.P. Fell Short of Presenting a Motive 

for her to Lie 

An otherwise valid State evidentiary law runs counter to the Sixth Amendment 

when it does not permit the defendant to show bias, prejudice or motive which may 

affect the witnesses' testimony. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 1110, 39 

L.Ed.2d 347, 353-54 (1974) cited by Gray, 209 Ill.App.3d 407, 154 Ill.Dec. 219, 568 N.E.2d 
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219.  This ensures that the defendant will be able to confront his accuser "where the 

confrontation is both relevant and based on a showing of bias, prejudice or motive." 

People v. Sandoval 135 Ill.2d 159, 174-75, 142 Ill.Dec. 135, 142, 552 N.E.2d 726, 733 (1990) 

citing Davis, supra. Furthermore, the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process guarantees "an 

accused the right to introduce into evidence any testimony or documentation which 

would tend to prove the defendant's theory of the case." Vipperman v. State, 96 Nev. 592, 

596 (1980) (citations omitted); Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986).  

Attempting to discredit R.P. by bringing out inconsistencies in her statements does 

not preclude defense counsel from also offering a motive for why she would have lied, 

nor does it take the place of such an offering. The former establishes the inconsistencies 

and the later establishes the reason for the inconsistencies—that she was lying to 

minimize the anger directed at her by her mother as opposed to innocuously failing to 

remember things correctly every time she was questioned. In fact, presenting a motive 

to lie answers the very concern at last one juror had, which was, “I don’t see why 

anybody would like about something like that….” (See Exhibit 3 of Petitioner’s 

Supplemental Memorandum at 92-93).  

Ultimately the District Court understood the relevance and importance of 

presenting R.P.’s motive to lie in the defense case-in-chief. (See Transcript of Day 1 of 

Trial (‘T1”) at 28-42). Based upon this understanding, the Court left the door wide open 

for defense counsel to come up with a way to sanitize R.P.’s pregnancy so as to still be 

able to present to the jury a motive for her to lie. (See T1 at 42-50). Instead of making any 

type of attempt to do so, defense counsel simply threw their hands up in surrender and 

offered nothing. (See T1 at 49-63). Given the fact that R.P.’s accusations and testimony 

comprised the only evidence of most of the crimes Petitioner was convicted of, counsel’s 

failure to sanitize R.P.’s pregnancy and confront her regarding her motive to lie amounts 

to ineffective assistance of counsel.  

While the State claims this was a strategic decision and virtually unchallengeable 
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3, the record clearly reflects the opposite. Counsel thought the presentation of a motive 

for R.P. to lie was imperative to the defense of “better him that me” and even sought a 

stay to file a petition for writ of mandamus in the Supreme Court of Nevada when this 

Court would not admit R.P.’s pregnancy. (See T1 at 49-63). Then when offered the 

opportunity to sanitize R.P.’s pregnancy so as to still be able to present this very 

important motive to the jury, counsel’s response was, “…there’s nothing else that really 

conveys the message of what we’re talking about.” (See T1 at 51). While Petitioner 

appreciates how fiercely counsel advocated for the initial argument that the only way to 

present his defense was by admitting the pregnancy, once it was clear that this was not 

going to happen, counsel should have explored other options. Saying “there is no way to 

do this” when there is, in fact, several ways, is not a strategic decision—it is ineffective 

assistance of counsel. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064; Kirksey, 112 Nev. at 

980, 923 P.2d at 1102. 

 

III. REQUEST FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING PURSUANT TO NRS 34.770 

The State argues that Petitioner is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing pursuant 

to NRS 34.770 because the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel involve either 1) 

requests that counsel take steps that ultimately would have been futile and 2) 

unchallengeable strategic decisions. (See SR 19). First, counsel’s requests would not have 

been futile. With respect to Juror No. 12, if counsel failed at attempting to excuse her for 

cause, he could have used a peremptory challenge on her. With respect to sanitizing 

R.P.’s pregnancy, this Court gave counsel the option to do so. Therefore, to argue that an 

attempt at sanitizing her pregnancy would be futile is belied by the record.  

Second, with respect to counsel’s decisions being strategic in nature, the State is 

attempting to improperly expand the record. There is no case law or statute that makes 

any decision per se strategic and there is nothing in the record indicating why defense 

counsel made the decisions they made. The only way to determine if a decision made by 

                                                           

3 (See SR 16). AA 001388
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counsel was strategic in nature is to expand the record via an evidentiary hearing. 

Marshall v. State, 110 Nev. 1328, 885 P.2d 603 (1994); Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 

P.3d 1228, 1231 (2002).  Therefore, Petitioner is entitled to an evidentiary hearing 

pursuant NRS 34.770. 

 

 Dated this    6th   day of March, 2019. 

 

/s/ Jean Schwartzer   

JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 11223 

Law Office of Jean J. Schwartzer 

10620 Southern Highlands Parkway 

Suite 110-473 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89141 

Phone: (702) 979-9941 

Fax: (702) 977-9954 

jean.schwartzer@gmail.com 

Attorney for Petitioner 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED by the undersigned that   6th   day of March, 2019, I 

served a true and correct copy of the foregoing REPLY TO STATE’S RESPONSE TO 

SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT 

OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) on the parties 

listed on the attached service list via one or more of the methods of service described 

below as indicated next to the name of the served individual or entity by a checked box: 

VIA U.S. MAIL: by placing a true copy thereof enclosed in a sealed envelope with 
postage thereon fully prepaid, in the United States mail at Las Vegas, Nevada. 
 
VIA FACSIMILE: by transmitting to a facsimile machine maintained by the attorney or 
the party who has filed a written consent for such manner of service. 
 
BY PERSONAL SERVICE: by personally hand-delivering or causing to be hand 
delivered by such designated individual whose particular duties include delivery of such 
on behalf of the firm, addressed to the individual(s) listed, signed by such individual or 
his/her  representative accepting on his/her behalf.  A receipt of copy signed and dated 
by such an individual confirming delivery of the document will be maintained with the 
document and is attached. 
 

BY E-MAIL: by transmitting a copy of the document in the format to be used for 

attachments to the electronic-mail address designated by the attorney or the party who 

has filed a written consent for such manner of service. 

 

/s/ Jean Schwartzer   

JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 11223 

Law Office of Jean J. Schwartzer 

10620 Southern Highlands Parkway 

Suite 110-473 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89141 

Phone: (702) 979-9941 

Fax: (702) 977-9954 

jean.schwartzer@gmail.com 

Attorney for Petitioner 
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SERVICE LIST 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

ATTORNEYS 

OF RECORD 

PARTIES 

REPRESENTED 

METHOD OF 

SERVICE 

 

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT 

ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 

200 E. LEWIS AVENUE 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101 

 

pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com 

 

 

State of Nevada 

 

     Personal 

service 

     Email service 

     Fax service 

     Mail service 

 

 

GUILLERMO RENTERIA-NOVOA  

INMATE NO. 1092343 

LOVELOCK CORRECTIONAL CENTER 

1200 PRISON ROAD 

LOVELOCK, NEVADA 89419 

 

 

 

 

     Personal 

service 

     Email service 

     Fax service 

     Mail service 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
                            
                         Plaintiff,

vs.

GUILLERMO RENTERIA-
NOVOA,              
                        Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

CASE NO.  C-10-268285-1

DEPT. NO. XX

BEFORE THE HONORABLE ERIC JOHNSON, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

FRIDAY, DECEMBER 13, 2019 

RECORDER S TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING: 

EVIDENTIARY HEARING 

APPEARANCES:   

For the State:    MICHELLE FLECK 
      Chief Deputy District Attorney

For the Defendant:   JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 

Also Present with Defendant:  Alicia Herrera Spanish Interpreter  

RECORDED BY:  ANGIE CALVILLO, COURT RECORDER

Case Number: C-10-268285-1

Electronically Filed
2/18/2020 1:41 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Las Vegas, Nevada; Friday, December 13, 2019 

[Hearing commenced at 9:21 a.m.] 

 

  THE COURT:  State of Nevada versus Guillermo Renteria-

Novoa, Case No. C268285.  Counsel, please note your appearances for 

the record. 

  MS. SCHWARTZER:  Jean Schwartzer for the Petitioner. 

  MS. FLECK:  Good morning.  Michelle Fleck for the State. 

  -- 

  THE RECORDER:  Your Honor, we have an Interpreter. 

   

  THE INTERPRETER:  Alicia Herrera, Certified Spanish 

Interpreter. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right, record reflect the presence of 

petition for writ of habeas corpus.  Are we ready to get going? 

  MS. SCHWARTZER:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  All right, call your first witness. 

  MS. SCHWARTZER:  Mr. Feliciano, Mike Feliciano.  Michael 

Feliciano. 

   

  MS. SCHWARTZER:  Mike. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  

stay standing for just a second while our Clerk over here swears you in. 

MIKE FELICIANO 

AA 001393
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[having been called as a witness and being first duly sworn, testified as 

follows:] 

  THE CLERK:  Please be seated.  Please state your name and 

spell your first and last name for the record. 

  THE WITNESS:  Mike Feliciano, M-I-K-E-F-E-L-I-C-I-A-N-O. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, go ahead. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. SCHWARTZER: 

 Q Good morning. 

 A Good morning. 

 Q Do you mind if I call you Mike? 

 A Sure. 

 Q Okay, and you can call me Jean.  So what do you do for a 

living? 

 A I am an attorney. 

 Q And what kind of law do you practice? 

 A 

Assault Team. 

 Q Okay.  And do you know Mr. Renteria-Novoa? 

 A I do.  I was his lead trial attorney at his trial in 2012 13, I 

believe. 

 Q Okay.  And without going into all of the counts, I know there 

were a lot.  What was the nature of the case against Mr. Renteria? 

 A 
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 Q Okay.  And what were the age range that these crimes were 

alleged to have been committed with respect to the victim? 

 A I know there were counts that were under 14, so I believe 12 

or 13.  It started with the allegations and it went up to, I believe, 16 

because there were charges of just sex assault without the minor 

enhancement. 

 Q Okay.  So then there would be some under 14 charges that 

occurred when she was under 14; some charges that were for 14 to  

16 -- 14 to under 16, correct? 

 A Yes. 

 Q And then some that were 16 and older? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Correct, okay.  And is consent a defense to any of those? 

 A -- if you can use 

consent on the -- on the 16 definitely; consent would be an argument.  

sex assault would be -- you can 

consent to it.  Most people would say, no.  I think the law would say, no. 

But we argue that -- you know, sometimes we do argue that consent 

applies; as to lewdness, no.  

 Q Okay.  What were some of the hurdles you had to get over 

with this case as far as the evidence that you knew the State had prior to 

trial?   

 A Well the worst piece of evidence, I think, we had -- well there 

were two.  There were -- 

which I filed the motion to suppress on -- where he 
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admitted that he had done things with the child.  Additionally, there were 

some photos of a text messages that Mr. Renteria-Novoa sent to the 

victim, and they were photos of her underwear.  And saying just kind of 

like flirting photos and telling her to answer the phone and stuff like that. 

 Q Okay.  Aside from -- .  Was there  

any --  and the 

statement that the victim gave, was there any outside corroboration? 

 A There were -- 

findings.  But, yeah, it was basically her statement and his statement.  

And I guess looking at them both, they kind of looked very similar; so 

 for us.   

 Q every single thing that he was charged 

with, correct?  There was -- 

 A No.  No, no, no.   

 Q Okay. 

 A No. 

 Q So it was basically he said/she said? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay.  So based upon all of that, what theory of defense did 

you come up with? 

 A We came up with the defense that the victim made up the 

allegations because she was getting in trouble.  And that -- I mean, 

basically, she was okay with that that it was consensual. 

 Q Okay.  So it was -- our closing 

statements and some of the arguments that occurred prior to trial, better 
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him than me? 

 A Yes, better -- 

 Q Does that accurately reflect? 

 A Yes, yes. 

 Q Okay.  And so -- can you go into a little bit more detail about 

what that means? 

 A So basically what we -- what we re -- what we presented was 

that she made up the allegations to avoid getting in trouble.  And her -- I 

remember correctly, her mother and Mr. Novoa were t super serious.  

They were, kind of, on and off.  And it was not a big deal to her if he just 

was out of the picture, then she could get -- you know, she would get 

sympathy and things like that and not be in trouble. 

 Q Okay.  And she would be in trouble for? 

 A Well she was pregnant at the time of the allegation, which we 

tried to present.  But we were not allowed to present, and we argued 

that on the first day of trial.  

 Q Okay.  And just to clarify, Mr. Renteria was not the father of 

that child? 

 A s no evidence that suggest he was. 

 Q And the victim never claims that it was? 

 A  

 Q Okay.  So the pregnancy was integral to the theory of your 

defense? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay, did you file any pretrial motion regarding that? 
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 A We did not. 

 Q Okay, so when did you first present that issue to the Court? 

 A We -- there were discussion with myself and Ms. Fleck, and 

we ended up arguing at the first day of trial.  I -- we went back and forth.  

Judge Tao asked us a bunch of times, you know, how is this relevant? 

How is it not rape shield?  We gave our arguments, and we went on and 

on and on.  And I read the pages yesterday and he said, no, this is rape 

shield, and we were not allowed to present that. 

 Q Okay, but it was integral to your theory of why she would lie? 

 A I m  

 

 Q Okay.  When -- did you ever have discussions with Mr. 

Renteria about this theory? 

 A Yes. 

 Q How -- at what point in the pretrial stage? 

 A About -- presenting that she was pregnant? 

 Q Yes.   

 A Well -- he said to me, is that -- is 

 

  

h your client.  But -- 

  THE WITNESS:  I did.  I mean I can just -- yeah, we did speak 

about it. 

BY MS. SCHWARTZER: 

 Q I just want to know when? 
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 A We talked -- I mean, that -- 

 Q When you -- like at what -- how many months or weeks prior 

to trial did you discuss presenting that as a defense? 

 A about immediately because 

 

 Q Okay, okay.  So during the discussions and the arguments 

rather; prior to trial when you were attempting to get in evidence of the 

pregnancy Rape Shield 

Law.  Did he offer any kind of compromise? 

 A Judge Tao? 

 Q Yes. 

 A He said that we could fashion some sort of -- 

not sexual; something that  and talk about some 

sort of, like, medical issue that the girl was having, and we declined that 

option. 

 Q Okay.  Did you -- and who s your co-counsel? 

 A Amy Porray. 

 Q Okay.  And did you and Ms. Porray talk about -- or have a 

chance to talk about possibly coming up with some way to sanitize it that 

in the argument, a medical reason is not -- having a medical condition is 

not something a teenager would get in trouble for. 

 A Yeah, so basically we talked about it.  There was nothing 

really that we could come up with

this
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answers.  And there was nothing that we could think of that would 

provide the force of: ; you know, please take care of me; I 

 and, you know, pin it all on him. 

 Q Okay.  What about coming up with sort of a nebulous 

explanation of -- and this would be a working progress, obviously.  And I 

word for word.  What about coming up with something similar to, you 

know, the victim had done something 

parents; t

her future and also affected other people, but left the pregnancy portion 

out so that it sanitized and gets across your point to the jury that she had 

a reason for, sort of, diverting the blame onto somebody else or 

Rape Shield Law? 

 A -- I 

-- 

present

into it.  But I was concerned that if we present something like that, that 

shield or not

else, we thought that the rape shield issue alone was a good appeal 

-- we thought that was a really good issue.  

, but that was one of our 

best appeal issues in my estimation.   

 Q Do you think that you could have presented that sanitized 

were offered by the trial judge?  And still 

AA 001400
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